THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

FEB 24 2017

SC Court of Appeals

S. Jackson Kimball, Special Circuit Court Judge

---

Case № 2016-001700

---

Mark Anderko, ..... Appellant,

vs.

South Carolina Law Enforcement Division ..... Respondent.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

C. Rauch Wise  
Attorney at Law  
305 Main Street  
Greenwood, SC 29646  
(864) 229-5010

Christopher A. Wellborn  
Attorney at Law  
PO Box 10191  
142 #C Oakland Avenue  
Rock Hill, SC 29730

Attorneys for Appellant

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

Question I: Did the trial court err in finding that Mark Anderko was required to continue to have his name on the out of state Sex Offender Registry when he was not a resident of the State of South Carolina?

Question II: Did the lower court err in failing to require the State Law Enforcement Division (SLED) to remove the name of Mark Anderko from the out of state Sex Offender Registry when the State of Washington had, after a hearing and under the laws of the State of Washington, ruled against his having to register as a sex offender in the State of Washington?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### *Procedural History*

Mark Anderko filed his action on December 18, 2015 in the Court of Common Pleas for the County of York seeking to have his name removed from the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry. The matter came for a hearing before the Honorable S. Jackson Kimball, Special Circuit Judge for York County. By his order dated July 12, 2016, and filed July 28, 2016, Judge Kimball denied his request to remove his name from the Sex Offender Registry.

Mr. Anderko filed his Notice of Appeal on August 19, 2016.

### *Factual History*

On April 19, 2004 Mark Anderko was convicted in the State of Washington for a violation of the offense of communicating with a minor for immoral purposes. (RCW 9.68A.090). As part of his conviction, Mr. Anderko was required to register as a sex offender in the State of Washington. Order at 1. In November of 2004 Mr. Anderko moved to the State of South Carolina. As the crime to which he pled guilty in the State of Washington required that he register as a sex offender, he was required to register as a sex offender in the State of South Carolina. S. C. Code § 23-3-430 A. He registered on a regular basis in South Carolina from November of 2004 until January of 2012 when he changed his residence back to the State of Washington. At that time he stopped registering in South Carolina. His status on the Sex Offender Register was changed to reflect the fact he was residing out of state. His name, however, still remained on the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry. Order at 2.

On January 9, 2014, as permitted by Washington law, the court for the State of Washington issued an order terminating the requirement that Mr. Anderko register as a sex offender. The State Law Enforcement Division (SLED) did not accept this order as a basis for removing Mr. Anderko from the out of state Sex Offender Registry list. As a result, Mr. Anderko filed the present action seeking to have his name removed from the out of state Sex Offender Registry maintained by SLED.

## Argument

### Question I

**Did the trial court err in finding that Mark Anderko was required to continue to have his name on the out of state Sex Offender Registry when he was not a resident of the State of South Carolina?**

The requirement to register in South Carolina is first contingent upon a person convicted of a specific sex crime being a resident of this state. S. C. Code § 23- 3-430 provides “Any person, regardless of age, *residing* in the State of South Carolina . . . .” (emphasis added) The law further defines what is required to be “residing” in South Carolina as “For purposes of this article, a person who remains in this State for a total of thirty days during a twelve-month period *is* a resident of this State.” (emphasis added). Thus, a person with a conviction for certain sex crimes who vacations, works, is hospitalized, or incarcerated in South Carolina for a total of 30 days in a twelve month period is required to register as a sex offender. The statute has no provisions for maintaining a registry list of those who used to reside in South Carolina, although SLED is permitted to establish regulations. S. C. Code § 23-3-420. (“The State Law Enforcement Division shall promulgate regulations to implement the provisions of this article.”)

The only proper reading of S.C. Code § 23-3-430 is that it applies only to present residents of the State of South Carolina. The statute as to residency is written in the present tense. The Statute by its plain language does not apply to those who have in the past been residents of and registered in South Carolina as a sex offender. Nor,

obviously, does it apply to those not residing in South Carolina who are sex offenders in other states. Under the SLED policy, a person with a conviction for certain sex crimes who only once vacations, works, is hospitalized or incarcerated for 30 days a year in South Carolina will forever be listed in the “out of state” sex registry. No language in the statute supports that permanent listing of a person who has left the state and establishes or has a permanent residence in another state or country.

If one searches the SLED Sex Offender Registry site, a search of the site by name will show the name of the Appellant with his residence being in the State of Washington. No local information, such as former addresses, is contained there. SLED regulation 73-250 provides “A sheriff, when notified that a registered offender is moving to another state, will update the offender’s record in the Registry to inactive status.” A check of the listing for Mr. Anderko does not show that he is listed as “inactive.” *See*, <http://scor.sled.sc.gov/OffenderDetails.aspx?Display=Main&Id=552250> (visited February 15, 2017).

As noted by *Ahrens v. State*, 392 S.C. 340, 348–49, 709 S.E.2d 54, 58 (S.C.) “While ‘[t]he Legislature has the right to vest in the administrative officers and bodies of the state a large measure of discretionary authority ... to make rules and regulations,’ an agency may not make rules that ‘conflict with, or ... change in any way the statute conferring such authority.’” (internal citations omitted). Thus, SLED cannot make a list or procedure not authorized by the Statute.<sup>1</sup> A reading of the regulations does not even

---

<sup>1</sup>

While not relevant to this appeal, a conflict exists between the statute and the regulations as to how long a person must live in South Carolina before they are required

grant SLED the power to maintain an “out of state” list of sex offenders. The SLED regulations grant permission to the local sheriff, where the registration occurred, to destroy the records. The regulation provides:

73-270 Retention of Information Collected.

A. Information collected by sheriffs office.

(1) Information collected by a sheriffs office on a convicted sex offender may be destroyed:

(a) Once an offender is placed on an inactive status and a sheriff confirms that the offender has been included in the South Carolina Registry by another sheriffs office, or *the offender transfers to another state . . . .* (emphasis added)

Notwithstanding the lack of any authority to maintain such a list by statute, the lower court stated “Further, as determined by the legislature, maintaining a list of out-of-state registrants assists law enforcement in continuing enforcement of this State’s laws should a registrant return to reside in South Carolina.” Order at 5. The Court failed to cite to any portion of the code where the legislature made such a finding. The reason is, there is none. The Court then stated “I conclude that South Carolina has a legitimate public policy interest and concern in maintaining the registration of all persons having a history of conviction of criminal sexual offense that would require registration in this State.” Order at 5. The basis for such a holding was “The requirement is consonant with the legitimate public policy of South Carolina of continuing provision of notice to South

---

to register. The code in § 23-3-430 says 30 days during a twelve month period. The SLED regulations say “J. “Resident” means any person remaining in South Carolina for a period of twenty-eight (28) consecutive days. This will include any person having either permanent or temporary lodging, engaged in any activity, including, but not limited to, earning a salary, attending school or college, recreation, visitation and the like.” Thus under the SLED regulations a person can leave the state every 25 days and then return and never have to register.

Carolina residents that an individual who would otherwise be registering is not, and should not be residing in this State for any extended period of time. As such, this knowledge remains as protection for the public, and also aids law enforcement in monitoring the potential risk to communities.” Order at 5. Permitting the destruction of the records on the local level and placing the offender on an “inactive list” would seem to be contrary to the purposes of maintaining an “out of state” registry found by the lower court. Certainly permitting the destruction of the records by local authorities is inconsistent with this purpose.

As Mark Anderko is not residing in South Carolina as defined by S.C. Code §23-3-430(B) the statute does not apply to him. This Court should reverse the decision of the lower court and require the State Law Enforcement Division to remove the name of Mark Anderko from the Sex Offender Registry maintained by them.

## Question II

**Did the lower court err in failing to require the State Law Enforcement Division (SLED) to remove the name of Mark Anderko from the out of state Sex Offender Registry when the State of Washington had, after a hearing and under the laws of the State of Washington, ruled against his having to register as a sex offender in the State of Washington?**

A person who was convicted of an out of state sexual offense can be required to register in South Carolina under two conditions. First, if the person has been convicted in “any comparable court in the United States, or a foreign country” to an offense for which a person would be required to register in South Carolina. Second, if the offenses

are not comparable, then the out of state person can be required to register for “an offense for which the person was required to register in the state where the conviction or plea occurred . . .” S.C. Code §23-3-430. The issue in this case involved the second provision.<sup>2</sup> At the time Mr. Anderko moved to South Carolina in November of 2004, he was required under the law of the State of Washington to register as a sex offender. Therefore, even though the statute in Washington is not comparable to a South Carolina statute, Mr. Anderko was required to registry for the sole reason he was required to register in the State of Washington.

The statute under which he was convicted is RCW.9.68A.090 “Communication with minor for immoral purposes.” It is a misdemeanor. The lower court rested its decision on the fact that, as Mr. Anderko was at one time required to register as a sex offender in the State of Washington, he is always required to register as a sex offender in South Carolina. Order at 2.

The Washington Order dated December 22, 2014 does more than eliminate any requirement that Mr. Anderko not be required to register as a sex offender. His civil

---

2

The closest statute in South Carolina is S.C. Code § 16-15-342. Criminal Solicitation of a Minor. It is defined as:

“(A) A person eighteen years of age or older commits the offense of criminal solicitation of a minor if he knowingly contacts or communicates with, or attempts to contact or communicate with, a person who is under the age of eighteen, or a person reasonably believed to be under the age of eighteen, for the purpose of or with the intent of persuading, inducing, enticing, or coercing the person to engage or participate in a sexual activity as defined in Section 16-15-375(5) . . .” The Washington Statute is broader as virtually any sexual communication would be sufficient to violated the statute.

rights were fully restored except for his right to own a firearm. Even the “no contact” provision of his sentence was lifted. Order December 12, 2014.

The lifting of the requirement to register in this case was not the result of the simple passage of a certain number of years. The Washington code requires more. The trial court is required to consider and find a number of facts. RCW 9A.44.142 provides:

- (4)(a) The court may relieve a petitioner of the duty to register only if the petitioner shows by clear and convincing evidence that the petitioner is sufficiently rehabilitated to warrant removal from the central registry of sex offenders and kidnapping offenders.
  - (b) In determining whether the petitioner is sufficiently rehabilitated to warrant removal from the registry, the following factors are provided as guidance to assist the court in making its determination:
    - (i) The nature of the registrable offense committed including the number of victims and the length of the offense history;
    - (ii) Any subsequent criminal history;
    - (iii) The petitioner's compliance with supervision requirements;
    - (iv) The length of time since the charged incident(s) occurred;
    - (v) Any input from community corrections officers, law enforcement, or treatment providers;
    - (vi) Participation in sex offender treatment;
    - (vii) Participation in other treatment and rehabilitative programs;
    - (viii) The offender's stability in employment and housing;
    - (ix) The offender's community and personal support system;
    - (x) Any risk assessments or evaluations prepared by a qualified professional;
    - (xi) Any updated polygraph examination;
    - (xii) Any input of the victim;
    - (xiii) Any other factors the court may consider relevant.
- RCW 9A.44.142. Relief from duty to register

Under the factors to be considered, the order from the State of Washington has determined that the reasons for having Mr. Anderko register as a sex offender no longer exist. The section does not apply to all sex offenders. Many in Washington will be required to register for a lifetime. The Washington Code provides:

(2)(a) A person may not petition for relief from registration if the person has been:

(i) Determined to be a sexually violent predator pursuant to chapter 71.09 RCW; or

(ii) Convicted as an adult of a sex offense or kidnapping offense that is a class A felony and that was committed with forcible compulsion on or after June 8, 2000.

RCW 9A.44.142. Relief from duty to register

Mr. Anderko requested that the lower court honor under the Full Faith and Credit Clause of Article IV, § 1 of the Constitution of the United States of America. As the basis for registering in South Carolina was the fact that Mr. Anderko was required to register in the State of Washington, once that obligation is removed by judicial order, then the State of South Carolina should be required to honor that ruling. To hold otherwise is to ignore the judicial proceedings of the State of Washington. As the South Carolina Supreme Court has said concerning the full faith and credit clause “ In accordance with this mandate, the courts of one state must give such force and effect to a foreign judgment as the judgment would receive in the state where rendered.”

*Minorplanet Systems USA Ltd. v. American Aire, Inc.*, 368 S.C. 146, 149 , 628 S.E.2d 43, 45 (2006).