ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

JUN 30 2017

The Honorable S. Jackson Kimball
Special Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Appellate Case No.: 2016-001700
Trial Court Case No.: 2015-CP-46-03931

FEB 19 2019

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Mark Anderko, Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Law Enforcement Division, Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ADAM L. WHITSETT
General Counsel
South Carolina Law Enforcement Division
Post Office Box 21398
Columbia, South Carolina 29221-1398
Phone: (803) 896-0647

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court did not err in finding that the Appellant is required to continue to have his name listed on the South Carolina Sex Offender Registry Act (SORA) registry because Appellant's initial registration was proper, constitutional, and in accordance with South Carolina law; and the Appellant does not meet any of SORA's statutory criteria for removal.**

It is undisputed that the Appellant was convicted of an offense for which he was required to register in the State of Washington to wit: "communicating with a minor for immoral purposes (RCW 9.68A.090)" and that the Appellant did in fact so register in the State Washington. (Order p. 1) (Transcript p. 7) (R. pp. 60, 21). As such, the Appellant conceded at the trial court that he was properly registered as a sex offender in accordance with SORA when he moved to York County in 2004. (Transcript p. 8) (R. p. 22) *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(A) (requiring registration for anyone who was convicted or pled guilty to an offense "**for which the person was required to register in the state where the conviction or plea occurred**") (emphasis added). In addition, a plain reading of SORA indicates that the Appellant would in fact have to resume in person registration were he to return to the State of South Carolina in the future. *Id.*² Unquestionably, South Carolina's statute is written in the past tense such that any individual who was convicted and **was required** to register in the state of conviction, as is the Appellant's case, must register in accordance with SORA. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(A). As such, the intent of the South Carolina Legislature is clear and unambiguous, if an individual has ever been required to register in the state of conviction, the individual must register in South Carolina.

² At the trial court, the Appellant conceded that "there would be a strong public safety argument from SLED to keep him on the registry" in that scenario; however, the Appellant did not concede that he would in fact have to register in this scenario. (Transcript pp. 16-17) (R. pp. 30-31).

for life. *Id. see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-460 (“A person required to register pursuant to this article is required to register... for life”).

Accordingly, because the Appellant’s initial registration was proper, constitutional, and in accordance with applicable South Carolina law; the decision in this matter on whether the Appellant should be removed from the SORA registry turns on whether the Appellant meets any of the statutorily available avenues of removal from SORA, which are set forth in detail in S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430 paragraphs (E), (F), and (G). Pursuant to § 23-3-430(E), “SLED shall remove a person’s name and any other information concerning that person from the sex offender registry immediately upon notification by the Attorney General that the person’s adjudication, conviction, guilty plea, or plea of *nolo contendere* for an offense listed in subsection (C) was reversed, overturned, or vacated on appeal and a final judgment has been rendered.” S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(E). Pursuant to § 23-3-430(F), an offender who receives a pardon “based on a finding of not guilty specifically stated in the pardon” shall be removed. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(F). And finally, pursuant to § 23-3-430(G) individuals exonerated subsequent to filing a petition for a writ of habeas corpus or a motion for a new trial are removed. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(G). However, the stipulated facts demonstrate and the Appellant concedes that he does not meet any of the statutory criteria that would entitle statutory removal from the SORA registry. (Order p. 2) (R. p. 61). As such, South Carolina law mandates that the Appellant remain listed on the SORA registry for life. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-460. Accordingly, the trial court was correct in denying the Appellant’s request for removal.

Furthermore, the South Carolina Supreme Court has also held unequivocally that a “court’s equitable powers **must yield** in the face of an unambiguously worded statute.”

Santee Cooper Resort, Inc. v. S. Carolina Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 298 S.C. 179, 185, 379 S.E.2d 119, 123 (1989)(emphasis added); *see also* Key Corporate Capital, Inc. v. County of Beaufort, 373 S.C. 55, 644 S.E.2d 675 (2007) (finding error in fashioning an equitable remedy in the face of an unambiguously worded statute setting forth certain remedies). As such, the trial court was without any authority whatsoever to simply remove the Appellant from the SORA registry outside the statutory scheme, and the trial court's decision should be upheld. *Id.*

Furthermore, were any court to fashion an equitable remedy in the face of an unambiguously worded statute would be a clear violation of the South Carolina Constitution's mandate for the separation of powers. *See* S.C. Const. art. I, § 8. The South Carolina Constitution specifically provides that "the legislative, executive, and judicial powers of the government shall be forever separate and distinct from each other, and no person or persons exercising the functions of one of said departments shall assume or discharge the duties of any other." S.C. Const. art. I, § 8. The duration of sex offender registration is a matter of public policy that is solely in the province of the South Carolina Legislature. As such, any attempt by any court to invade the Legislature's exclusive province is a violation of the separation of powers and is unconstitutional. *Id.* In addition, the South Carolina Supreme Court has specifically held that

[i]f a statute's language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning." Buist v. Huggins, 367 S.C. 268, 276, 625 S.E.2d 636, 640 (2006) (internal quotes and citation omitted). Instead, the words of the statute must be given their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to subtle or forced construction to limit or expand the statute's operation. *Id.* Moreover, **"it is beyond this Court's power to effect a change in the statutes enacted by the Legislature."** State v. Corey D., 339 S.C. 107, 120, 529 S.E.2d 20, 27 (2000); *see also* Keyserling v. Beasley, 322 S.C. 83, 86, 470 S.E.2d 100, 101 (1996) (this

Court does “not sit as a superlegislature to second guess the wisdom or folly of decisions of the General Assembly”).

Key Corporate Capital, Inc. v. County of Beaufort, 373 S.C. 55, 59, 644 S.E.2d 675 (2007) (emphasis added). As such, any attempt to remove the Appellant from the SORA registry beyond the statutory avenues available under SORA would be unconstitutional and impermissible. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-460; S.C. Const. art. I, § 8; Santee Cooper Resort, Inc. v. S. Carolina Pub. Serv. Comm’n, 298 S.C. 179, 185, 379 S.E.2d 119, 123 (1989); Key Corporate Capital, Inc. v. County of Beaufort, 373 S.C. 55, 644 S.E.2d 675 (2007); In the Interest of Justin B., a Juvenile under the Age of Seventeen, ___ S.C. ___, 799 S.E.2d 675 (2017) (noting that changes to SORA must be made by the South Carolina Legislature).

In addition, the trial court correctly found that the Appellant’s continued listing on the SORA registry with an “out-of-state” designation passes constitutional muster. This out-of-state listing “is reasonably related to the legitimate state purpose of protecting the public and aiding law enforcement in limiting the risk that sex offenders pose to communities.” See Hendrix v. Taylor, 353 S.C. 542, 550-51, 579 S.E.2d 320, 324 (2003). All out-of-state listings provide notice to South Carolina residents that an individual who would be registering otherwise is not and **should not** be residing in this State. As such, this knowledge is protection for the public and this knowledge also aids law enforcement in limiting the risk that sex offenders pose to communities. Further, the South Carolina Legislature intended for such out-of-state listings to remain in case individuals like the Appellant do in fact choose to return to the State of South Carolina. See S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-460 (mandating registration in South Carolina “for life”).

Moreover, the continued listing of out-of-state offenders serves as notice to both the public and to law enforcement that action may be necessary to insure compliance with

SORA. Specifically, the continued listing of out-of-state offenders serves as notice to the public and to law enforcement should these individuals be found to be residing in the State of South Carolina and not registering. Absent a continued out-of-state listing, there would be no ability for the public or law enforcement to address this issue. In addition, as has been specifically noted by the South Carolina Supreme Court, “[r]egistering persons who committed crimes in another state when they move to South Carolina is a reasonable method of achieving....[the goal of protecting the public and aiding law enforcement].” Hendrix v. Taylor, 353 S.C. 542, 550-51, 579 S.E.2d 320, 324 (2003).

Further, all persons, including the Appellant, who must register under SORA are subject to uniform administrative and legal procedures. *Id.* Moreover, the Appellant is treated the same as all individuals who are properly registered in the State of South Carolina and the Appellant did not assert any disparate treatment. As such, there is no viable constitutional challenge in this matter. See Hendrix v. Taylor, 353 S.C. 542, 579 S.E.2d 320 (2003); In re Shaquille O'Neal B., 385 S.C. 243, 684 S.E.2d 549 (2009); Lozada v. S. Carolina Law Enf't Div., 395 S.C. 509, 719 S.E.2d 258 (2011); In the Interest of Justin B., a Juvenile under the Age of Seventeen, ___ S.C. ___, 799 S.E.2d 675 (2017). Accordingly, the trial court decision should be upheld and affirmed in its entirety.

II. The trial court did not err in failing to require the Respondent to remove the Appellant from the SORA registry because the Full Faith and Credit Clause has no application to this case.

As discussed in more detail above, it is undisputed that the Appellant's initial registration on the SORA registry was proper and that the Appellant does not meet any of the statutory criteria for removal pursuant to SORA. (Order p. 1-2) (Transcript p. 7) (R. pp. 60-61, 21). As such, there is no legal authority for the Appellant to be removed from the SORA registry. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430; S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-460 *see also* S.C. Const. art. I, § 8; Santee Cooper Resort, Inc. v. S. Carolina Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 298 S.C. 179, 185, 379 S.E.2d 119, 123 (1989); Key Corporate Capital, Inc. v. County of Beaufort, 373 S.C. 55, 644 S.E.2d 675 (2007); Argument I, *supra*.

Furthermore, the trial court correctly held that the Full Faith and Credit Clause of the United States Constitution has no application whatsoever to this case. U.S. Const. art. IV, § 1. Put simply, the order issued in the State of Washington (Order) dictates only that the Appellant does not have to actively register in the State of Washington, which is not in dispute in this action. However, as correctly noted by the trial court, this Order does not command the Respondent or the State of South Carolina to take any action whatsoever and does not have any effect whatsoever on the Appellant's continued "out-of-state" listing or subsequent registration requirement in the State of South Carolina. Rather, South Carolina jurisprudence clearly indicates that South Carolina's registration requirement is not affected by the registry laws in any other jurisdiction, and the Lozada and Hendrix cases are particularly instructive on this issue. Lozada v. S. Carolina Law Enf't Div., 395 S.C. 509, 719 S.E.2d 258 (2011); Hendrix v. Taylor, 353 S.C. 542, 552, 579 S.E.2d 320, 325 (2003). Lozada is a case where registration was not mandated by the State of Pennsylvania,

the state of conviction for Mr. Lozada. However, the South Carolina Supreme Court noted that registration was nevertheless proper in South Carolina in accordance with SORA and that the South Carolina courts had to give no particular deference to Pennsylvania law. Lozada v. S. Carolina Law Enf't Div., 395 S.C. 509, 514-15, 719 S.E.2d 258, 261 (2011) (noting that registration in the state of conviction is one of several alternative basis for registration in South Carolina). In Hendrix, an individual challenged South Carolina's lifetime registration requirement in the face of Colorado's law that allows a petition for removal after five years. Hendrix v. Taylor, 353 S.C. 542, 552, 579 S.E.2d 320, 325 (2003). The Supreme Court noted that "Appellant's argument fails because this Court has ruled that registering as a sex offender is a non-punitive imposition. Therefore, the length of time one must be listed on the sex offender registry is non-punitive, and it cannot constitute a deprivation of a constitutionally protected liberty interest. As such, Appellant has not shown a due process violation." Hendrix v. Taylor, 353 S.C. 542, 552, 579 S.E.2d 320, 325 (2003) (citing State v. Walls, 348 S.C. 26, 31, 558 S.E.2d 524, 526 (2002)). Put simply, the jurisprudence of this State and the intent of the South Carolina Legislature is clear – the fact that Washington law allows an individual to be removed from Washington's registry has no bearing on the South Carolina Legislature's mandate for lifetime registration in South Carolina. See S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-460; Lozada v. S. Carolina Law Enf't Div., 395 S.C. 509, 719 S.E.2d 258 (2011); Hendrix v. Taylor, 353 S.C. 542, 552, 579 S.E.2d 320, 325 (2003). As such, the trial court correctly held that the Full Faith and Credit Clause of the United States Constitution has no bearing on this case.

Moreover, the Full Faith and Credit Clause does not support a cause of action against the Respondent in this matter. In essence, the Appellant is seeking to have South

Carolina's courts enforce and apply a Washington statute, to wit: RCW 9A.44.142. This would be impermissible and an affront to South Carolina's sovereignty. The United States Supreme Court has long recognized that "[e]very state is entitled to enforce in its own courts its own statutes lawfully enacted...." Williams v. State of North Carolina, 317 U.S. 287, 295, 63 S.Ct. 2017, 212 (1942). In Sun Oil Co. v. Wortman, the United States Supreme Court acknowledged that a state cannot be compelled by the Full Faith and Credit Clause to substitute the statute of another state when "dealing with a subject matter concerning which it is competent to legislate." 486 U.S. 717, 722 (1988) (quoting Pacific Employers Ins. Co. v. Industrial Accident Comm'n, 306 U.S. 493, 501 (1939)). In addition, in Alaska Packers Association v. Industrial Accident Commission, the United States Supreme Court recognized "that there are some limitations upon the extent to which a state will be required by the full faith and credit clause to enforce even the judgment of another state, in contravention of its own statutes or policy." 294 U.S. 532, 546-47 (1935). Moreover, the Court went on to state that the sovereignty of states to enforce their own laws is even more pressing because "a rigid and literal enforcement of the full faith and credit clause, without regard to the statute of the forum, would lead to the absurd result that, wherever the conflict arises, the statute of each state must be enforced in the courts of the other, but cannot be in its own." *Id.* at 547. To the extent that the Appellant sought for South Carolina courts to enforce a Washington statute that conflicts with South Carolina's sovereign law, the trial court correctly rejected this argument. Accordingly, the trial court's decision should be affirmed and upheld in its entirety.

III. The Appellant did not properly preserve his residency argument.